Supreme Court Copy

FILED

S174507

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

OCT 0 9 2009

Frederick K. Onlrich Clerk

ESTUARDO ARDON, on behalf of himselfand all others similarly situated, Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF LOS ANGELES Defendant and Respondent.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three Case No. B201035

Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles Hon. Anthony J. Mohr, Judge Trial Court Case No. BC363959

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WOLF HALDENSTEIN ADLER FREEMAN & HERZ LLP FRANCIS M. GREGOREK (144785)

ISSUES PRESENTED BY APPELLANT

- (1) Does Government Code section 910, as construed by this Court's decision in *City of San Jose v. Superior Court* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 447, 457 [115 Cal.Rptr. 797] (*City of San Jose*), permit the filing of a class claim with a local public entity for the refund of local taxes? (Yes.)
- (2) Does article XIII, section 32 of the California Constitution apply to actions against local entities for the refund of local taxes? (No.)

ISSUES PRESENTED BY RESPONDENT

- (1) Should this Court's decision in *City of San Jose* be extended to allow the filing of class claims against local public entities for tax refunds?
- (2) Does this Court's decision in *Woosley v. State of California* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 758 [13 Cal.Rptr.2d 30, 838 P.2d 758]

(Woosley), require that tax refund claims against local entities strictly comply with applicable claiming requirements?

- (3) Does article XIII, section 32 of the California Constitution require that tax refund claims against local entities strictly comply with applicable claiming requirements?
- (4) Does public policy require that tax refund claims against local entities strictly comply with applicable claiming requirements?

INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal's decision in this case should be reversed, not only because it wrongly interprets and applies article XIII, section 32 of the California Constitution, this Court's long settled precedents, and the Government Claims Act (Gov. Code, § 900 et seq.) ("GCA"), but also because the practical impact of its decision is to strip payors of local taxes of any meaningful remedy or effective means of redressing claims against an overreaching local governmental entity. Local governments such as the City should not be permitted to thwart class claims and thereby retain illegally collected taxes based on the meritless assertion that they "planned" upon the continued flow of such illegally collected funds.

The GCA expressly provides for the filing of claims on behalf of others. The word "claimant" in section 910 was held by this Court to include a class and that holding has never been reversed by the Legislature. By providing for class refund claims, the GCA provides effective, meaningful and practical protection to taxpayers who would otherwise not be able to pursue meritorious tax refund claims.

The telephone utility taxes ("TUT") at issue here are a prime

example.¹ The TUT (for which the Legislature has enacted section 910) is relatively small and almost invisible to the ordinary taxpayer, unlike property taxes, for example, which are relatively large and highly visible to property owners (and for which the Legislature has created a separate, specific refund statute (Rev. & Tax. Code, § 5097)). Typical local TUTs range from five to ten percent of telephone charges which, for an average monthly phone bill of around \$50, results in a monthly tax of around \$2.50 to \$5.00. Furthermore, there is no requirement that telephone service providers separately state the amount of the TUT collected. The providers that do separately list the TUT typically include it in a laundry list of other taxes and fees, including numerous federal and state surcharges and taxes.

In 2006, Plaintiff Ardon discovered that the TUT had been improperly collected on telephone charges for long distance and bundled service after several federal courts held that a federal telephone tax (the "FET") (26 U.S.C. § 4251), which had been incorporated into the City's TUT ordinance, was not applicable to those services. The federal government had notified taxpayers of the improper tax levied and voluntarily paid refunds of the FET, but the City neither provided such notice nor paid refunds – even though the City had expressly incorporated the terms of the FET into its own TUT ordinance. As a result, Plaintiff Ardon filed an administrative refund claim with the City as required by

Some corporate taxpayers are due large enough refunds to make individual litigation over the TUT practical and, indeed, some are pursuing individual refund claims against the City now. (See *Nextel Boost of California, LLC, dba Boost Mobile v. City of Los Angeles* (Super. Ct. Los Angeles County, Case No. BC406437); *J2 Global Communications, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles* (Super. Ct. Los Angeles County, Case No. BC404694); and *Tracfone Wireless, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles* (Super. Ct. Los Angeles County, Case No. BC363735).) The vast majority of taxpayers are due small refunds, however, and should not be deprived of justice because their individual resources and claims are small.

section 910. Pursuant to *City of San Jose*, *supra*, 12 Cal.3d 447, which held that class claims against government entities are authorized by section 910 (*id.* at p. 457), he filed his refund claim on behalf of himself and all other taxpayers similarly situated. The City rejected Ardon's claim.

As this Court has stated, the purpose of such an administrative claim is to allow the City an opportunity to investigate and settle the claim without the expense of litigation. (City of San Jose, supra, 12 Cal.3d at p. 455.) The claims statutes are not intended to "thwart class relief." (Id. at p. 457.) Upon receipt of Ardon's claim, the City was placed on notice of his claims and the TUT ordinance alleged to have been violated. Further, the City knew from its own records the amount of money it had collected pursuant to that TUT ordinance and the potential amount it owed in refunds.² As a consequence, the purpose of the GCA was fulfilled: the City had an opportunity to investigate and settle the claim. The City's decision to deny the claim and litigate stands in stark contrast to the Internal Revenue Service's (the "IRS") voluntary return of the moneys it illegally collected pursuant to the FET.

The GCA is a general claims statute enacted by the California Legislature in 1959 to provide a uniform statewide procedure for the presentation of claims for money or damages against local and state government entities and to eliminate the confusing patchwork of local and state procedures that had existed prior to 1959, which was "unduly complex, inconsistent, ambiguous and difficult to find, ... productive of

In addition, the City has access to the records of telephone service providers. Section 21.1.11 of the Los Angeles Municipal Code (hereafter "City Code") requires providers "to keep and preserve, for a period of three years, all records as may be necessary to determine the amount of such tax as he may have been liable for the collection of and remittance to the Director of Finance. …" and further provides that "the [City] Clerk shall have the right to inspect at all reasonable times" the records maintained. (Appendix ("App.") A.)

much litigation and ... often result[ed] in the barring of just claims." (Recommendation and Study Relating to the Presentation of Claims Against Public Entities (Jan. 1959) 2 Cal. Law Revision Commission Rep. (1959) at p. A-7 (App. B) (hereafter "Commission Rep.").)³ The Legislature went to great lengths to ensure that the procedures it enacted in the GCA would create a statewide, uniform system including, among other things, amending the State Constitution to ensure that the procedures would apply to charter cities and counties, and amending the Code of Civil Procedure to make clear that statutes of limitations would be governed by the GCA. Further to that end, section 905, subdivision (a) expressly distinguishes tax claims under the Revenue and Taxation Code or other "statute," as that term is defined, from tax claims subject to the general claim presentation requirements of section 910. Tax refund claims not exempted from section 910 are expressly made subject to section 910. (Gov. Code, §§ 811.8, 905(a).)

Under section 910, claims against government entities are to be presented by "the claimant or by a person acting on his or her behalf...." (Gov. Code, § 910, emphasis added.) In *City of San Jose*, this Court held that the word "claimant" in section 910 "must be equated with the class itself" and therefore permits the filing of class claims. (*City of San Jose, supra*, 12 Cal.3d at p. 457.) This Court never overruled or even narrowed its 1974 holding in *City of San Jose*, nor has the Legislature taken any steps to do so, even though it has amended the very clause of section 910 containing the word "claimant" in other respects.

Appellant has appended only the relevant pages of the California Law Revision Commission Recommendation and Study at Appendix B. The full report is found at http://clrc.ca.gov/pub/Printed-Reports/Pub019.pdf>.

Following City of San Jose, in January 2008, the Second Appellate District, Division Three unanimously held, in a case indistinguishable from this one in all material respects, that class refund claims to recover local taxes from a local entity were proper under section 910. (County of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 353, 357 [71 Cal.Rptr.3d 485, 487] (Oronoz).) On April 30, 2008, this Court rejected a Petition for Review in Oronoz. (County of Los Angeles v. Superior Court (Oronoz), No. S161501.)

Sixteen months after the issuance of the unanimous *Oronoz* opinion, however, a different panel of Division Three of the Second Appellate District refused to apply *City of San Jose* here, overruling its own decision in *Oronoz*. There was no change in the applicable law between the *Oronoz* and *Ardon* decisions. Justice Croskey, who authored the *Oronoz* opinion, issued a strong dissent in *Ardon*. Presiding Justice Klein, who had been part of the unanimous *Oronoz* panel, issued a short concurring opinion in *Ardon*, but requested that this Court review the opinion to "resolve the conflict between the *Oronoz* decision and the majority opinion" and because of the importance of the issues presented herein upon the public fisc. (*Ardon, supra*, 174 Cal.App.4th at p. 386 (conc. opn. of Klein, P.J.).) Indeed, the state of the public fisc is the only circumstance to have changed since the *Oronoz* decision.

Ardon is the second of two opinions issued in one month by Division Three of the Second Appellate District that takes an overly-broad view of article XIII, section 32's application. In Loeffler v. Target Corp. (2009) 93 Cal.Rptr.3d 515, review granted, _____ Cal.Rptr.3d _____, 2009 WL 3109817 (Sept. 9, 2009) (No. S173972) (Loeffler), the plaintiff filed a class action against a private company, Target Corporation, for refund of excess sales tax imposed on purchases of hot coffee "to go" because sales tax was allegedly not due on such purchases. The court's opinion, again authored

by Justice Kitching, relies in part upon *Woosley* which Justice Kitching felt had "broadly construed article XIII, section 32 in light of the overriding policies behind that provision." (*Loeffler*, *supra*, 93 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 531.)

In *Ardon*, the Court of Appeal improperly extended the stated reach of article XIII, section 32 beyond state entities and their agents to a local government. *Ardon* also mutated the "pay first, litigate later" policy behind article XIII, section 32 of the Constitution into a blanket ban on class tax refund claims in contravention of the clear legislative scheme expressed in section 910 allowing such claims. *Ardon* effectively denied taxpayers any meaningful remedy or effective means of redress for the illegal collection of taxes by an overreaching government. Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted, *Ardon* should be reversed.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND AND PROCEEDINGS

For many years, the City has required telephone companies to collect and remit taxes from telephone users on long distance and bundled telephone services even where calls are *not* charged by *both* elapsed time and distance.⁴ (Clerk's Transcript ("CT") 12; App. A.) However, these services were not taxable under the plain language of the City Code section 21.1.3(a) (the "TUT").⁵

Although the telephone companies calculate and collect the tax, the Legislature has expressly absolved them from any responsibility to investigate or inquire about the validity of the tax they collect. (Pub. Util. Code, § 799.)

On February 16, 2007, the City purportedly amended the TUT to eliminate the reference to the FET and to tax telephone service regardless of whether it is charged by both elapsed time and distance. (CT 19, 49-53.) However, Plaintiff alleges that the purported amendment was illegal, as discussed *infra*. All references to the TUT, unless otherwise specified, are to the ordinance as it existed prior to the amendment, a copy of which is attached hereto as App. A.

The TUT imposed a 10% tax on amounts paid for all telephone services used by every person in the City. (CT 12; App. A) Expressly excluded from the TUT were amounts paid for telephone services "to the extent that the amounts paid for such services are exempt from or not subject to the tax imposed under section 4251 of Title 26 of the United States Code, as such section existed on November 1, 1967." (City Code §21.1.3(d) (CT 13; App. A).) Therefore, telephone services not subject to the tax imposed by the FET, were also not subject to the TUT.

The FET only applies to long distance service where calls are charged by *both* time *and* distance. Since most modern long distance telephone service is charged via a postalized⁶ fee structure (i.e. where charges vary solely by elapsed time and not by distance), typical long distance telephone service is not subject to the FET.⁷ Nevertheless, despite the unambiguous language of the FET and TUT, for many years both the federal government and the City required service providers to collect taxes on all long distance service regardless of whether calls were being charged by *both* time *and* distance.

Beginning around 2004, however, some corporate taxpayers began challenging the applicability of the FET to long distance and bundled services. In those cases, five United States Circuit Courts of Appeal, the Court of Federal Claims, and five United States District Courts *unanimously* held that in order to be taxable under the plain language of the FET, charges for long distance telephone services *must* be based on

The term "postalized" derives from the fact that the charge to mail a letter does not vary by distance.

Plaintiff here does not challenge the applicability of the FET or TUT to local telephone service for which a separate charge applies (i.e., non-bundled, local service).

both distance **and** elapsed transmission time.⁸ In light of these clear pronouncements by the federal courts, the IRS ceased collecting the FET on long distance and bundled telephone service in July 2006 and voluntarily provided refunds of the improperly collected tax for a period of roughly three years. (See IRS Notice 2006-50 (CT 27-40).)

Contrary to these clear pronouncements by the federal courts and the actions of the IRS, however, the City continued to collect the TUT on services to which neither the FET nor, consequently, the TUT applied. (CT 10, 12-16.) In fact, the City never offered or even informed taxpayers of their right to refunds of these illegally collected taxes. (CT 10 at ¶12.)

On October 19, 2006, pursuant to section 910 and *City of San Jose*, Ardon served a refund claim on the City Council, City Controller, Director of Finance, and Treasurer seeking return on behalf of himself and all similarly situated taxpayers of the money that had been improperly collected and retained by the City. (CT 10 at ¶14; 42-45.) The City rejected Plaintiff's claim and instead attempted to illegally amend the taxing ordinance, without voter approval, to include the charges that Plaintiff identified as not being taxable. (CT 11 at ¶¶15-16; 19 at ¶¶68-71;

See Reese Bros., Inc. v. U.S. (W.D. Pa., Nov. 30, 2004, No. 03-CV-745) 2004 WL 2901579, affd. (3d Cir. 2006) 447 F.3d 229; Hewlett-Packard Co. v. U.S. (N.D. Cal. Aug. 5, 2005, No. C-04-03832 RMW) 2005 WL 1865419; Fortis, Inc. v. U.S. (S.D.N.Y. 2004) 420 F.Supp.2d 166, affd. (2d Cir. 2006) 447 F.3d 190; Am. Online, Inc. v. U.S. (Fed.Cl. 2005) 64 Fed.Cl. 571; Honeywell Int'l, Inc. v. U.S. (Fed.Cl. 2005) 64 Fed. Cl. 188; Nat'l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. U.S. (D.D.C. 2004) 338 F.Supp.2d 22, affd. (D.C. Cir. 2005) 431 F.3d 374; OfficeMax, Inc. v. U.S. (N.D. Ohio 2004) 309 F.Supp.2d 984, affd. (6th Cir. 2005) 428 F.3d 583, rehg. en banc den. (Mar. 30, 2006) 428 F.3d 583; Am. Bankers Ins. Group, Inc. v. U.S. (S.D. Fla. 2004) 308 F.Supp.2d 1360, revd. (11th Cir. 2005) 408 F.3d 1328.

By seeking to amend the tax without voter approval, the City violated article XIIIC of the California Constitution (or Proposition 218). (Cal. Const. art. XIIIC, § 2(b); CT 11, 19, 21-22.) Eventually, on February

49-52.)

Appellant then filed the instant action for declaratory and injunctive relief, money had and received, violation of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and writ of mandamus. The City demurred to Appellant's complaint and brought a Motion to Strike, requesting an order striking the portions of Appellant's Complaint seeking to prosecute the action as a class action. On July 6, 2007, the Honorable Anthony J. Mohr partially sustained the demurrer without leave to amend and struck Appellant's class allegations. On May 28, 2009, the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three affirmed in pertinent part the order of the trial court striking Appellant's class allegations.

The Court of Appeal's split decision in *Ardon* overruled a unanimous decision of the same Division (including two of the same panel members) just sixteen months earlier in *Oronoz*, which held that under *City of San Jose*, a section 910 claim for a refund of local taxes *could* be asserted against a local government on behalf of a class. (*Oronoz*, *supra*, 159 Cal.App.4th at p. 357.) Justice Croskey, who authored the unanimous opinion in *Oronoz*, issued a strong dissent, adhering to his position in that case that "a class claim for tax refunds against a local public entity [is] permissible under Government Code section 910 in the absence of a specific tax refund statute prescribing procedures to claim a refund of the taxes at issue." (*Ardon, supra*, 174 Cal.App.4th at p. 387 (dis. opn. of Croskey, J.).)

^{5, 2008,} the City submitted a TUT amendment to a vote of the citizens of the City and received voter approval. Thus, beginning on the effective date of the voter-approved amendment, the collection of the TUT was no longer illegal as to long distance and bundled telephone service.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW IS DE NOVO

On appeal from an order of dismissal after a demurrer is sustained without leave to amend, the Court must review the pleading *de novo* to determine whether it alleges a cause of action under any legal theory. (Cantu v. Resolution Trust Corp. (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 857, 879 [6 Cal.Rptr.2d 151].) The Court must "assume that the complaint's properly pleaded material allegations are true and give the complaint a reasonable interpretation by reading it as a whole." (Moore v. Regents of University of California (1990) 51 Cal.3d 120, 125 [271 Cal.Rptr. 146].) Also, the Court must accept as true all facts that may be implied or inferred from the facts that have been expressly alleged. (Marshall v. Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 1397, 1403 [44 Cal.Rptr.2d 339].) "Courts must also consider judicially noticed matters." (Schifando v. City of Los Angeles (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1074, 1081 [6 Cal.Rptr.3d 457, 460, 79 P.3d 569, 572].)

II. GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 910 PROVIDES FOR THE FILING OF A CLASS CLAIM FOR REFUND OF THE TUT

A. The Applicable Claim Statute Is Government Code Section 910

The applicable refund claim statute here is indisputably section $910.^{10}$.

In drafting the GCA, the Legislature intentionally provided for taxes like the TUT to be covered by section 910 to promote uniformity and fairness. Prior to 1959, most claims against California government entities were subject to a patchwork of statutes, county and city charters, and local

The Court of Appeal held that "the applicable claims statute is Government Code section 910...." (*Ardon*, *supra*, 174 Cal.App.4th at p. 373.) The City did not seek review of that holding.

ordinances. In 1959, the California Law Revision Commission determined that "the law of this State governing the presentation of claims against governmental entities is unduly complex, inconsistent, ambiguous and difficult to find, that it is productive of much litigation and that it *often results in the barring of just claims*." (Commission Rep., *supra*, 2 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. at p. A-7 (App. B), emphasis added.) Accordingly, upon the Law Revision Commission's recommendation in 1959, the California Legislature enacted a single, uniform claims presentation procedure set forth at Government Code former section 700 et seq. (Stats. 1959, ch. 1724, p. 4133 et. seq. (App. C)), now Gov. Code, section 900 et seq., which replaced the over 174 separate procedures that had previously governed claims against government entities. (See *Baines Pickwick Ltd. v, City of Los Angeles* (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 298, 306 [85 Cal.Rptr.2d 74].)

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