COPY SUPREME COURT COPY

S174507

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ESTUARDO ARDON, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, Plaintiff/Appellant

SUPREME COURT **FILED**

VS.

DEC 2 4 2009

CITY OF LOS ANGELES Defendant/Respondent

Frederick K. Ohlrich & Deputy

After a Decision By The Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three Case No. B201035

Appeal from the Superior Court for the County of Los Angeles Hon. Anthony J. Mohr, Judge Trial Court Case No. BC 363959

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY FOLLOWED THE RULE
THAT CLASS CLAIMS FOR TAX REFUNDS MUST BE

4

ħ

3

³ The court also found that there was no need for declaratory relief because there was an applicable statutory mechanism provided under Los Angeles Municipal Code § 21.1.12 governing administrative claims. (CT 142.) The court reserved its ruling on the claim for declaratory relief, however, staying that aspect of the order. (CT 142.) The court also stayed its ruling on the writ claim. (Reporter's Transcript ("RT") A-26.)

EXPRESSLY AUTHORIZED BY STATUTE AND STRICTLY COMPLY WITH APPLICABLE CLAIMING REQUIREMENTS

This Court unambiguously held in *Woosley v. State of California* that class claims for tax refunds require express legislative authorization and strict compliance with authorizing claims statutes because "strict legislative control over the manner in which tax refunds may be sought is necessary so that governmental entities may engage in fiscal planning based on expected tax revenues." *Woosley*, 3 Cal.4th at 789. Given the devastating impact of this Court's decision on his ambition to create a new avenue for class action litigation, Appellant attempts to narrow, limit, dismiss and distort this Court's unanimous decision in *Woosley*. However, as set forth more fully below, *Woosley* and its reasoning remain sound; Article XIII, Section 32 which underlies the decision requires strict control over tax refund claims in any event; and public policy compels the same result. Appellant points to no change in Article XIII, Section 32 which would justify departure from *Woosley*'s precedent or any other authority to do so. Accordingly, Appellant's ambitions ought not to be realized here.

As a result, the Appellate Court below was entirely proper in recognizing that:

"[W]here, as here, a plaintiff seeks to assert a class action on behalf of a very large number of people, and the governmental entity faces an unexpected and huge liability . . . "[i]t is vital that the Legislature retain control over the manner in which claims may be asserted, so that governmental entities have sufficient notice of claims to allow for predictable and reliable fiscal planning."

3

3

3

7

3

Opinion, 174 Cal. App.4th at p. 381. In other words, the Appellate Court correctly followed this Court's decision in *Woosley*, the dictates of Section 32 and the fundamental public policies underlying them.

A. This Court Has Already Decided That Tax Refund Actions Must Be Expressly Authorized and Strictly Comply With Claiming Requirements

Appellant contends "Woosley does not say that strict compliance with claims statutes is required in tax refund cases." (Opening Brief at 20.) This contention misconstrues both this Court's reasoning and its holding in Woosley.

Woosley held that both express legislative authorization and strict compliance with claiming requirements are required in tax refund cases. First, writing for a unanimous Court, the Chief Justice explained that claims for tax refunds "must be brought in the manner prescribed by the Legislature" (Id. at 789) and that courts are precluded from "expanding the methods for seeking tax refunds expressly provided by the Legislature" (Id. at 792 emphasis added.) Woosley reinforces the requirement that legislative authorization be express by explaining that silence does not constitute the requisite authorization. Woosley, 3 Cal.4th at 792 (that "the Legislature has been silent on the subject of class claims seeking refunds of use taxes ... did not constitute legislative authorization of such class claims".) In other words, Woosley plainly and explicitly held that tax refund claims require express legislative authorization of the type Appellant has not identified – and cannot identify – to sustain his claims.

3

3

)

•

•

Second, although *Woosley* did not use the phrase "strict compliance," the Court just as plainly held that strict compliance is required when it rejected the substantial compliance test of *City of San Jose v*.

Superior Court (1974) 12 Cal.3d 447 ("City of San Jose".) That case decided by this Court in 1974 by a 4-3 margin over a trenchant dissent by Justice Tobriner, applied a substantial compliance test to an administrative class claim of nuisance and inverse condemnation by the operation of a commercial airport – a proprietary activity of government having nothing to do with the collection of a tax to fund essential public services. *City of San Jose*, 12 Cal.3d at 457.⁴ In *Woosley*, this Court specifically considered the very argument here that *City of San Jose* should be extended to tax claims and concluded that the holding "should not be extended to include claims for tax refunds." *Woosley*, 3 Cal.4th at 799.

Thus, while this Court did not use the phrase "strict compliance," Woosley's unequivocal rejection of the substantial compliance rule for tax refunds and its requirement of express legislative authorization, can only be viewed as imposing a "strict compliance" rule and the Courts of Appeal

Þ

)

3

)

⁴ That *City of San Jose* involved proprietary activity is crucial to the policy issues underlying Article XIII, section 32. It is one thing to visit large and unexpected liabilities on a quasi-commercial activity as to which external social costs such as noise nuisances can and should be incorporated into the price the government sets in leasing airport rights to for-profit airlines. It is quite another to apply the expensive, inefficient and potentially devastating remedy of a class action to disputes regarding taxes imposed to fund essential government services. Thus, this Court need not revisit *City of San Jose* (though it may wish to do so) to sustain the result reached below in this case and in the long line of cases, including *Woosley*, which declined to extend that decision into territory from which it is barred by the mandate of Article XIII, section 32.

have repeatedly so concluded. See Neecke v. City of Mill Valley, 39 Cal.App.4th 946, 961 (1995) ("a taxpayer must show strict, rather than substantial, compliance"); Mission Housing Development v. City and County of San Francisco, 59 Cal.App.4th 55, 70 (1997) ("requiring strict compliance"); Farrar v. Franchise Tax Board, 15 Cal.App.4th 10, 19-21 (1993) ("administrative tax refund procedures . . . are to be strictly enforced"); State ex rel. Dept. of Motor Vehicles v. Superior Court, 66 Cal.App.4th 421, 432 (1998) ("Strict compliance is required".)

In other words, this Court concluded that Article XIII, Section 32 strictly limits tax refund claims and prohibits class actions in tax refund cases, except in those rare instances in which the Legislature expressly authorizes class relief in a tax refund case and a claimant strictly complies with applicable claiming requirements.

B. Article XIII, Section 32 of the California Constitution Requires That Tax Refund Claims Be Expressly Authorized and Strictly Comply With Applicable Claiming Requirements

Woosley reflects the requirements of Article XIII, Section 32 of the California Constitution. Thus, Woosley explained:

"The California Constitution expressly provides that actions for tax refunds must be brought in the manner prescribed by the Legislature. It provides in this regard: 'After payment of a tax claimed to be illegal, an action may be maintained to recover the tax paid, with

3

2)

9

3

•

interest, in such manner as may be provided by the Legislature." (Emphasis added.)

Id. at 792 (citing Cal. Const., Art. XIII, § 32.) Woosley thus enforced the California Constitution's assignment to the Legislature of exclusive control over tax refund claim procedures.

As explained by the Court of Appeal below, in this regard, *Woosley* followed a long line of Supreme Court cases that:

"[B]roadly construed Article XIII, Section 32 in light of the paramount policy underlying that provision . . . and the important purpose of prohibiting an unplanned disruption of revenue collection, 'so that essential public services dependent on the funds are not unnecessarily interrupted."

Opinion, 174 Cal. App. 4th at 381 (citations and internal quotations omitted.)

Thus, the requirements of express legislative authorization for tax refund claims and strict compliance with claiming procedures is not a judicial invention, a construction of a particular statute or a reaction to the facts or equities of a particular case; it derives directly and plainly from the Constitution. It is more than the authoritative common law of our State – it is the demand of the popular sovereign that framed our Constitution.

C. The Requirements of Express Authorization and Strict Compliance Apply Equally To Local Tax Refund Claims As to Claims Against the State

3

1

9

1

1

•

3

Appellant contends that Article XIII, Section 32 applies only to tax refund actions against the State, and not to such actions against local governments. (Opening Brief at 23.) This contention fails because it overlooks the separate meanings attributed to each of the two sentences of Article XIII, Section 32. In particular, the express grant of authority to the Legislature to control tax refund procedures is contained in the second sentence of Article XIII, Section 32 which, unlike the first sentence, contains no limitation to the State or its taxes, but addresses tax refund procedures in general.

Article XIII, Section 32 of the California Constitution provides:

No legal or equitable process shall issue in any proceeding in any court against this State or any officer thereof to prevent or enjoin the collection of any tax. After payment of a tax claimed to be illegal, an action may be maintained to recover the tax paid, with interest, in such manner as may be provided by the Legislature.

(Cal. Const., art XIII, § 32.) The two sentences of Article XIII, Section 32, when "[r]ead together ... establish that the sole legal avenue for resolving tax disputes is a postpayment refund action. A taxpayer may not go into court and obtain adjudication of the validity of a tax which is due but not yet paid. State Bd. of Equalization v. Superior Court (1985) 39 Cal.3d 633, 638.

However, each sentence of Article XIII, Section 32 also has independent meaning. The first sentence – "No legal or equitable process shall issue in any proceeding in any court against this State or any officer

•

3

þ

thereof to prevent or enjoin the collection of any tax" – prohibits judicial interference with tax collection. This first sentence expressly identifies the "State and its officers" as the taxing authorities whose tax collection efforts may not be judicially restrained.⁵

)

Interestingly, although courts have acknowledged that the language of the first sentence of Section 32 specifies "the State," some nevertheless have found that public policy requires that the anti-injunction provision in the first sentence of Section 32 be applied to all taxes in California, whether state or local. Flying Dutchman Park, Inc. v. City and County of San Francisco (2001) 93 Cal. App. 4th 1129, 1138 (no injunctive or declaratory relief against local parking tax); Writers Guild of America, West, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (2000) 77 Cal. App. 4th 475, 481 (no injunctive or declaratory relief against local business tax); accord Macy's Dept. Stores. Inc. v. City and County of San Francisco (2006) 143 Cal. App. 4th 1444 1457 fn. 22; Batt v. City and County of San Francisco (2007) 155 Cal. App. 4th 65, 72-73 (equitable relief barred re local transient occupancy tax); Rickley v. County of Los Angeles (2004) 114 Cal.App.4th 1002, 1013-1014 (equitable relief barred re local property tax); Flying Dutchman, 93 Cal.App.4th at p. 1137; Writers Guild, 77 Cal.App.4th 475 at p. 479 (same.) The rationale expressed for precluding injunctive or declaratory relief in these tax cases is the strong public policy favoring the uninterrupted funding of governmental activities, and disfavoring interference with the government's ability to fund essential public services. "This principle is generally known as the 'pay first, litigate later' rule, and it applies at all levels of government - the federal (26 U.S.C. §§ 7421, subd. (a), 7422, subd. (a); 28 U.S.C. §§ 1346, subd. (a)(1), 2201, subd. (a); Flora v. United States (1958) 357 U.S. 63, 67-75; Cheatham et al. v. United States (1875) 92 U.S. 85, 88-89); the state (Cal. Const., art. XIII, § 32; Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 6931 [sales and use taxes], 19381, 19382 [franchise and income taxes]; State Bd. of Equalization v. Superior Court (1985) 39 Cal.3d 633, 638); and the local (Rev. & Tax. Code, §§ 4807, 5140 [property taxes]; S.F. Bus. & Tax Regs. Code, § 6.15-4, subd. (a) [persons challenging tax "must first pay the amount of the disputed tax ... prior to seeking judicial relief"]; Flying Dutchman, supra, at p. 1136-1138; Writers Guild of America, West, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (2000) 77 Cal. App. 4th

The second sentence of Section 32 – the one at issue here – establishes strict legislative control over tax refund actions and is not similarly limited to the State and its officers. In contrast to the first sentence, it makes no reference to the State. Nor does it contain any limitation whatsoever on the types of tax refunds subject to legislative authority; reflecting a broad policy regarding all tax claims, it is stated in broad and unqualified terms.

It is this second sentence that was relied upon by this Court in *Woosley* (3 Cal.4th 758, 789) and by the Court of Appeal below (*Opinion*, 174 Cal.App.4th at 382.)

Appellant's failure to appreciate the distinct meanings of the two sentences of Article XIII, Section 32 becomes apparent upon examination of the cases cited to support his contention that "Article XIII, Section 32 is inapplicable to actions against local public entities." (Opening Brief at 23-24.) Careful review of the decisions that have discussed the application of Section 32 to local taxes reveals that they provide no support for a limited reading of its second sentence. Those few cases that have limited application of Article XIII, Section 32 to the State, including those cited by Appellant, have done so as to requests for injunctive relief and therefore focus on the first sentence's anti-injunction provision. On the other hand, those cases that have addressed the second sentence of Article XIII, Section 32 have found it to apply to all state or local taxes.

^{475, 483.)} Batt v. City and County of San Francisco (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 65, 71-72, citations and footnotes omitted, other bracketed text in original.

Cases That Indicate Article XIII, Section 32 Only Applies To The State Did Not Consider That Section's Language Mandating Legislative Control of Tax Refunds

Although the City has frequently pointed out that *Eisley v. Mohan* (1948) 31 Cal.2d 637 ("*Eisley*") was decided under a differently worded predecessor to Section 32, Appellant persists in his erroneous reliance on the case for the proposition that Section 32 applies only to an action against the State or a State officer. (Opening Brief at 24.)⁶ However, a correct reading of *Eisley* actually undermines Appellant's argument by demonstrating the differences in drafting between Section 32 and its predecessor. That predecessor provision – former Section 15 of Article XIII – was a single sentence as follows:

No injunction or writ of mandate or other legal or equitable process shall ever issue in any suit, action or proceeding in any court against this State, or any officer thereof, to prevent or enjoin the collection of any tax levied under the provisions of this Article; but after payment thereof action may be maintained to recover, with interest, in such manner as may be provided by law, any tax claimed to have been illegally collected.

⁶ Moreover, Appellant also relies upon *Eisley* indirectly by continuing to cite the since-repudiated appellate court decision in *Oronoz*, which mistakenly cited *Eisley* as a Section 32 case. (*See, e.g., Opening Brief at* 10, 19, 25.)

Former Cal. Const. art. XIII, § 15, as of 1948 (emphasis added) as quoted in *Eisley*, 31 Cal.2d at 640.

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